Docket NO.2008-CP-01692

IN THE

FILED

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

FEB 0 5 2009

February Term 2009

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

GREGORY WILLIAMS PATTERSON,

Appellant,

v.

TARA PATTERSON,

Appellee.

OPENING BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT

 \mathbf{O}

Oral Argument Not Requested

Greg Patterson Pro Se Certificate of Interested Persons

Case NO.2008-CP-01692-Gregory Patterson v. Tara Patterson

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme

Statement of Issues

- Whether the Chancery Court possessed subject matter jurisdiction to modify the out-ofstate Support Order.
- Whether the Chancery Court's modification of the Support Order was an abuse of discretion.
- 3. Whether the Chancery Court's finding of contempt of court was an abuse of discretion.
- 4. Whether the Chancery Court's award of \$22,500.00 to Mrs. Patterson was an abuse of discretion.

Statement of the Case

This appeal arises from a domestic relations case where the Chancery Court of Desoto County found Appellant (Mr. Patterson) in willful contempt of court, awarded a \$22,500.00 judgment in favor of Appellee (Mrs. Patterson), and modified the terms of an out-of-state support order. Mr. Patterson seeks review of each of these findings.

Factual Background

Mr. Patterson and Mrs. Patterson have an eight-year-old child named Matthew David Patterson (Matthew).² Matthew was born on June 17, 2000 in Colorado Spring, Colorado, while Mr. Patterson was in attendance at the United States Air Force Academy. Mr. Patterson and Mrs. Patterson became married on June 5, 2002. On November 18, 2004, Mr. Patterson and Mrs. Patterson were granted a no fault divorce in the State of New Hampshire.³ The Permanent Stipulation (Divorce Decree) was entered by the Hillsborough Superior Court of the Southern District of New Hampshire.⁴ Shortly after the divorce, Mrs. Patterson moved to Mississippi where she remarried and had two additional children.⁵ Mrs. Patterson then attended nursing school and became a full time registered nurse.⁶ Mr. Patterson received an honorable discharge from the United States Air Force to attend law school at the University of Texas.⁷ Mr. Patterson has since graduated and resides in Los Angeles, California.⁸

The Divorce Decree awarded Mrs. Patterson primary physical custody of Matthew and

¹ Clerk's Record, 85-86; Final Order on Petitioner for Contempt (September 30, 2008).

² Clerk's Record, 48; Respondent's Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment, I.

^{&#}x27; Id.

⁴ The Divorce Decree appears in the Clerk's Record in two separate places, pages 9-25 and 64-80.

⁵ Clerk's Record, 48; Respondent's Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment, I.

⁶ Id.

⁷ Id.

⁸ Trial Transcript, 5:19-20.

both parties share joint legal custody of Matthew.⁹ The Divorce Decree provides that Mr. Patterson is responsible for \$969.00 in monthly child support.¹⁰ There is no dispute that Mr. Patterson has fully paid this amount every month since the entering of the Divorce Decree.¹¹

The Divorce Decree provides that Mr. Patterson is responsible for Matthew's health insurance premiums so long as it is available to him at "reasonable cost." In accordance with the Divorce Decree, Mr. Patterson paid Matthew's health insurance premiums from November 2004 until May 2006. There is no dispute that since that time, Matthew has been covered under Mrs. Patterson's husband's (Dennis Garner's) plan at no additional cost to any party. There is also no dispute that Mr. Patterson repeatedly offered to have Matthew covered under his University of Texas health plan, but Mrs. Patterson declined such offers because Matthew's insurance is free under Mr. Garner's plan.

The Divorce Decree provides that both parties equally share Matthew's uninsured health expenses, but requires the custodial parent to provide a copy of any paid receipts for such expenses along with written requests for reimbursement to the noncustodial parent. To date, Mrs. Patterson has never provided Mr. Patterson with a paid receipt or written request for reimbursement of any uninsured medical expense. In fact, Mr. Patterson is unaware that any uninsured expenses have been incurred for Matthew's benefit whatsoever.

The Divorce Decree required Mr. Patterson to pay Mrs. Patterson \$36,000.00 over three

⁹ Clerk's Record, 9; Divorce Decree, 2A.

¹⁰ Clerk's Record, 24; Divorce Decree, Uniform Support Order.

¹¹ Clerk's Record, 48; Respondent's Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment, I

¹² Clerk's Record, 22; Divorce Decree, 22(D)(ii).

¹³ Clerk's Record, 50; Petitioner's Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment, IB.

¹⁴ Trial Transcript, 17:28-18:3.

¹⁵ Clerk's Record, 50; Petitioner's Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment, IB.

¹⁶ Clerk's Record, 22; Divorce Decree, 22(D)(ii).

¹⁷ Clerk's Record, 49-50, Petitioner's Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment, IB; Trial Transcript, 18:5-11.

years in the form of a "rent stipend." Importantly, the payment of this rent stipend was expressly conditioned on Mrs. Patterson's full cooperation in making Matthew available for telephonic, videophonic, and custodial access. Mr. Patterson paid \$18,000.00 of the rent stipend over the first 18 months, but ceased payment in 2006 as a result of Mrs. Patterson's continued frustration of Mr. Patterson's telephonic and videophonic access to Matthew. Mrs. Patterson routinely failed to answer Mr. Patterson's telephone calls to Matthew – answering less than one half of such calls over the period following the divorce. Moreover, Mrs. Patterson completely failed to make Matthew available for videoconferencing. In the spring of 2005, Mr. Patterson provided Matthew a full suite of computer equipment to facilitate videoconferencing. Amrs. Patterson sold this equipment and kept the proceeds for herself. Overall, Mrs. Patterson completely failed to meet her obligations under the terms of the Divorce Decree.

Although Mrs. Patterson's alleged claims became ripe in 2006, Mr. Patterson was not served with process until June 19, 2008, while visiting Matthew for his birthday four weeks prior to taking the California Bar Examination.²⁵ On the following business day, Mr. Patterson filed via express mail an Original Answer, a Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment, and a Motion for Continuance and Discovery.²⁶ Mrs. Patterson failed to respond to either of these Motions.²⁷ The Chancery Court granted the continuance and trial was set for August 18, 2008.²⁸

¹⁸ Clerk's Record, 20; Divorce Decree, 16(B).

¹⁹ Id.

²⁰ Trial Transcript, 19:5-20:17.

²¹ Id.

²² Id.

²³ Id.

^{24 + 1}

²⁵ Clerk's Record, 38; Summons.

²⁶ Clerk's Record, 39, 43, and 47.

²⁷ Clerk's Record.

²⁸ Clerk's Record, 83; Order of Continuance.

In the interim, Mr. Patterson requested from Mrs. Patterson's counsel, Ms. Maddox, copies of all uninsured medical expenses, as well as requests for reimbursement.²⁹ This request was ignored.³⁰

At trial, Mrs. Patterson's requests for relief were somewhat different than those asserted in her Petition for Contempt. Ms. Maddox quickly conceded that Mrs. Patterson had breached material terms of the divorce decree and consequently withdrew her Petition for Contempt with respect to the alleged uninsured medical expenses.³¹ But Ms. Maddox asserted a new claim, seeking equitable modification of the out-of-state Divorce Decree so as to require Mr. Patterson to pay all of Matthew's uninsured medical expenses.³² Overall, Ms. Maddox offered little if any evidence on any of Mrs. Patterson's claims other than mere attorney testimony asking for relief.³³ And as the following briefing shows, much of Ms. Maddox's testimony was unfavorable to Mrs. Patterson.

Mr. Patterson fully responded to all of Mrs. Patterson's claims at trial, reiterating the defenses he raised in his Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment, as well as raising several new issues. Mr. Patterson requested a ruling on all of these issues, including his oral motions made at trial as well as his Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment.³⁴ Because Ms. Maddox had previously disregarded Mr. Patterson's request for copies of Matthew's uninsured medical expenses, the Chancery Court granted Mr. Patterson a continuance to conduct additional discovery.³⁵ The Court set a post-trial hearing on September 29, 2008 for the limited purpose of

²⁹ Trial Transcript, 15:5-7.

³⁰ Trial Transcript, 27-29.

³¹ Trial Transcript, 5:10-12, 12:1-8.

³² Trial Transcript, 5:19-24.

³³ Trial Transcript.

³⁴ Trial Transcript, 6:17-20.

³⁵ Trial Transcript, 27:27-29.

giving Mr. Patterson an opportunity to disprove Mrs. Patterson's claims for unpaid uninsured medical expenses:

I am going to allow him a continuance to be able to take care of this, to be able to do some discovery. ³⁶

The Chancery Court contemplated the possibility of the parties settling out of court, and indeed this is what happened. In the interim, the Chancery Court denied all of Mr. Patterson's previous claims for relief in its Order dated August 22, 2008.³⁷

The following facts, which appear in Mr. Patterson's Motion for Entry of Settlement Agreement and Other Relief, were not included in the Clerk's Record and are offered only as background to this *Statement of the Case*:

- (1) Following trial, Mr. Patterson and Mrs. Patterson reached an amicable settlement agreement on the courthouse steps;
- (2) Shortly before the September 29th post-trial hearing, Ms. Maddox delivered a copy of a proposed Final Order to Mr. Patterson that did not comply with the settlement agreement reached by the parties;
- (3) Mrs. Patterson refused to honor the settlement agreement that was actually reached;
- (4) Mr. Patterson refused to agree with the new terms demanded by Mrs. Patterson.
- (4) Mr. Patterson was unable to appear at the September 29th post-trial hearing because it took place very shortly after he accepted a job at a law firm;
- (5) On the morning of the September 29th post-trial hearing, Mr. Patterson filed a Motion for Stipulated Judgment and Other Relief with supporting affidavit; and
- (6) That Motion was not included in the Clerk's Record, and it was not ruled upon.

At this time, Mr. Patterson believes that it is premature to file a 10(e) Motion to Supplement the Clerk's Record with Mr. Patterson's Motion for Stipulated Judgment and Other Relief. None of the above facts are material to this appeal. As the following briefing indicates, Mr. Patterson's nonappearance did not waive his appeal. Mr. Patterson's appearance at trial was sufficient to preserve the arguments made in this appeal because the Chancery Court was clear at

³⁶ Id.

³⁷ Clerk's Record, 84; Order, ¶1.

trial that the September 29th post-trial hearing was for the limited purpose of giving Mr. Patterson an opportunity to conduct discovery into Matthew's alleged uninsured medical expenses.³⁸ Moreover, the Record is clear that the arguments raised in this appeal were denied by the Chancery Court's Order dated August 22, 2008, which was prior to the post-trial hearing.

In its Final Order, the Chancery Court found Mr. Patterson in contempt of court. The Court ordered that Mr. Patterson pay \$18,000.00 for the outstanding rent stipend, \$1900.00 for past uninsured medical expenses, and \$2,600.00 in attorney fees.³⁹ Mr. Patterson appeals.

<sup>Clerk's Record, 27:27-29.
Clerk's Record, 85-86; Final Order.</sup>

Summary of the Argument

- I. The Chancery Court's modification of the Support Order was error. The Court lacked requisite subject matter jurisdiction to modify the New Hampshire order under the UIFSA and Mississippi Family Code because Mr. Patterson does not reside in Mississippi, Mrs. Patterson resides in Mississippi, and Mr. Patterson did not file consents in New Hampshire. In the alternative, Mrs. Patterson had unclean hands by breaching paragraph 22(D)(ii) of the divorce decree and could not properly petition for equitable modification. Ms. Maddox conceded that Mrs. Patterson repeatedly violated her obligations under paragraph 22(D)(ii) of the Support Order which required her to provide Mr. Patterson with copies of uninsured medical expenses and requests for reimbursements, and her violations are materially connected to her petition for equitable modification. In the alternative, the Chancery Court lacked cause to modify the Support Order and such modification was an abuse of discretion. To obtain a modification of child support, the party seeking the change must prove there is a substantial and material change in the circumstances of one of the interested parties arising subsequent to the original decree. Here, Mrs. Patterson failed to make any such showing.
- II. The Chancery Court's finding of contempt of court for nonpayment of the rent stipend was error. First, Mrs. Patterson had unclean hands and could not properly petition for contempt of court. Mrs. Patterson substantially frustrated Mr. Patterson's access to Matthew, which the Divorce Decree expressly connected to payment of the rent stipend. Further, Mr. Patterson has a natural right to visitation with his son Matthew, which Mrs. Patterson also frustrated. Second, Mr. Patterson's conduct does not give rise to a finding of contempt of court. Mr. Patterson acted in good faith at all times according to his rights under the Divorce Decree. Further, the Divorce

Decree leaves ambiguous questions open for interpretation by the parties and thus a finding of contempt was inappropriate. Third, Mrs. Patterson's breach of the Divorce Decree discharged Mr. Patterson's obligation to pay the rent stipend by operation of paragraph 16(B) of the Divorce Decree. The record is clear that Mrs. Patterson frustrated more than one half of Mr. Patterson's telephonic access to Matthew, and frustrated all videophonic access to Matthew by converting the videophonic equipment for personal gain.

III. The Chancery Court's award of \$22,500.00 to Mrs. Patterson was error. The award of \$1,900.00 for past uninsured medical expenses should be reduced to \$1,500.00 in accordance with Ms. Maddox's trial testimony. In the alternative, the award of \$1,900.00 for past uninsured medical expenses should be vacated in its entirety because Mrs. Patterson failed to meet her burden of proof. Mrs. Patterson failed to offer any evidence to support her claim, and the Record's only evidence on the subject strongly suggests the expenses never existed. The award of \$18,000.00 should be vacated because it was discharged by operation of paragraph 16(B) of the Divorce Decree. In the alternative, the award should be remanded to the Chancery Court to properly account for the monetary value of Mrs. Patterson's preclusion of access to Matthew. Finally, the award of \$2,600.00 to Mrs. Patterson for attorney fees should be vacated because Mrs. Patterson failed to meet her burden of proof and because Mrs. Patterson's petition for contempt must fail.

Argument

I. The Chancery Court's Modification of the Support Order Should Be Vacated.

Under the terms of the original Support Order entered in the State of New Hampshire, Mrs. Patterson and Mr. Patterson were equally responsible for Matthew's uninsured health expenses. Paragraph 22(D)(ii) of the Divorce Decree provides:

Greg shall maintain health insurance coverage for Matthew's benefit so long as it is available to him through the Air Force or at a reasonable cost. Greg shall pay the premium of the health insurance coverage and shall keep Tara updated with new insurance cards for Matthew as they are issued. All uninsured medical, dental, orthodontic, optical and other health related expenses (co-payments and prescriptions) shall be paid equally by the parties. The party incurring the expense shall request reimbursement in writing along with a copy of the paid receipt for said expense within thirty (30) days of incurring the expense. The reimbursing party shall make reimbursement of the expense within thirty days of the date of the request.⁴⁰

In its Final Order, the Chancery Court modified the terms of the Support Order⁴¹ to make Mr. Patterson responsible for all uninsured medical expenses. Paragraph 4 of the Chancery Court's Final Order states:

The Court hereby modifies the Final Decree of Divorce to reflect that Petitioner Tara Patterson shall henceforward pay the health insurance premiums for the benefit of the parties' minor child. Respondent Gregory Patterson shall be responsible for any medical, dental, orthodontic, optical and other health related expenses incurred for the minor child which are not covered by health insurance. Petitioner shall submit these bills to Respondent for payment within thirty (30) days of the bill being incurred, and Respondent shall pay these bills within thirty (30) days of the date of the request for reimbursement.⁴²

⁴⁰ Clerk's Record, 22; Divorce Decree, ¶22(D)(ii)

⁴¹ Mississippi's codification of the UIFSA defines a "support order" as a "judgment, decree or order, whether temporary, final or subject to modification, for the benefit of a child, a spouse or a former spouse, which provides for monetary support, <u>health care</u>, arrearages or reimbursement and may include related costs and fees, interest, income withholding, attorney's fees and other relief [emphasis added]." Miss. Code Ann. § 93-25-3(w) (West 2008); <u>McLean v. Kohnle</u>, 2005-CA-00033-COA (¶ 18) (Miss. App. 2006).

⁴² Clerk's Record, 86.

Notably, this modification contradicts the final sentence of paragraph 3 of the Chancery Court's Final Order, which states "Respondent shall continue to be responsible for one half (1/2) of all medical bills incurred on behalf of the parties' minor child which are not covered by insurance."

Mr. Patterson nevertheless concedes that, as read in its entirety, the Final Order modified the Support Order to hold Mr. Patterson responsible for all of Matthew's uninsured medical expenses. This was the clear intent of the Chancery Court, and this interpretation is consistent with Ms. Maddox's oral request at trial and the parties' subsequent expectations and conduct following the entering of the Final Order. To the extent that this Court agrees that the Chancery Court's Final Order modifies the Support Order, Mr. Patterson hereby appeals this Court to vacate that modification because: (1) the Chancery Court lacked requisite subject matter jurisdiction to order such modification; and (2) in the alternative, Mrs. Patterson had unclean hands and could not properly petition for equitable modification; and (3) in the alternative, the Chancery Court's modification was an abuse of discretion.

A. The Chancery Court's Modification of the Support Order Should Be Vacated For Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

1. Standard of Review

Whether a chancery court may properly exercise jurisdiction to modify the terms of a support order is a question of subject matter jurisdiction.⁴⁴ The standard of review concerning questions of subject matter jurisdiction is de novo. <u>Patriot Commer. Leasing Co. v. Jerry Enis</u>

⁴³ Clerk's Record, 85-86.

⁴⁴ Case law is clear that because this issue centers on whether a state may exercise authority to modify a foreign support order, the jurisdictional question is one of subject matter jurisdiction. See, e.g., McLean v. Kohnle, No. 2005-CA-00033-COA (¶11) (Miss. App. 2006) ("McLean argues that the Lauderdale Chancery Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case. McLean contends that Virginia assumed continuing, exclusive jurisdiction when it modified his obligations to provide child support and continues to exercise continuing, exclusive jurisdiction."). Numerous other venues have held the same under the UIFSA.

Motors, Inc., No. 2005-CA-01119-SCT (Miss. 2006). "Subject matter jurisdiction deals with the power and authority of a court to consider a case." Matter of Adoption of R.M.P.C., 512 So.2d 702, 706 (Miss. 1987). Thus, subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived and may be asserted at any stage of the proceeding or even collaterally. Id.; Penrod Drilling Co. v. Bounds, 433 So.2d 916, 924 (Miss. 1983).

2. Argument

"As this domestic relations matter originated in the [State of New Hampshire], the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act (UIFSA), codified in sections 93-25-1 through 93-25-117 of the Mississippi Code, controls." Richardson v. Stogner, No. 2006-CA-00777-COA (¶7) (Miss.App. 2007). Mississippi Code § 93-25-17(3) provides that "[i]f a tribunal of another state has issued a child support order pursuant to this chapter or to a law substantially similar to this chapter which modifies a child support order of a tribunal of the state, tribunals of this state shall recognize the continuing, exclusive jurisdiction of the tribunal of the other state." (West 2007). Thus, "[u]nder the UIFSA, as adopted and codified in the Mississippi Code Annotated, a Mississippi court may modify and/or enforce a child support order under limited circumstances. In order for a Mississippi court to have the authority to modify a child support order, Mississippi must have continuing, exclusive jurisdiction." McLean v. Kohnle, No. 2005-CA-00033-COA (¶14) (Miss. App. 2006). This holding is bolstered by the following legislative comments pertaining to this section of the UIFSA:

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