IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GREGORY WILLIAMS PATTERSON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO.: 2008-CP-01692

TARA PATTERSON

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

Nancy M. Maddox, 9356 Goodman Rd., Ste. 109 P.O. Box 1249 Olive Branch, MS 38654 662-890-6400 **Attorney for Appellee**

Oral Argument Not Requested

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

No. 2008-CP-01692

Gregory Williams Patterson v. Tara Patterson

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a Petition for Contempt filed against Appellant Gregory
Williams Patterson by his former wife, Appellee Tara Patterson, because Mr. Patterson
failed to comply with the terms of the Final Decree of Divorce between the parties.

The parties have one child, Matthew. At the time of their divorce, the parties lived in the State of New Hampshire. They were divorced in that state on November 18, 2004. The primary custody of the minor child was awarded to Ms. Patterson in the Final Decree of Divorce. CR at 11.1

Subsequent to the divorce, Ms. Patterson moved to Desoto County, Mississippi, with the parties' minor child and remarried. On July 11, 2006, Ms. Patterson filed a Petition to Enroll Foreign Decree and for Full Faith and Credit with the Desoto County Chancery Court. CR at 3. Mr. Patterson was personally served with a Rule 81D Summons, and noticed to appear before the Desoto County Chancery Court on August 22, 2006. CR at 28-30. On August 22, 2006, Mr. Patterson did not appear before the Desoto County Chancery Court. An Agreed Order was entered that day enrolling the New Hampshire divorce decree and giving that decree full faith and credit. CR at 31-32.

On June 16, 2008, almost two years since the New Hampshire divorce decree was

As stated in Appellee's Motion to Dismiss in this case, counsel for Appellee was never served with Appellant's mandatory Record Excerpts. Therefore, citations in this Brief will be to the record on appeal. Citations to the Desoto County Chancery Clerk's Record will be designated "CR" with the appropriate numbered page. Citations to the hearing transcript in the Chancery Court will be designated "TR" with the appropriate numbered page.

enrolled in Mississippi, Ms. Patterson filed a Petition for Contempt, alleging that Mr. Patterson had obstinately and wilfully failed to abide by certain terms of the divorce decree. CR at 33-36. Mr. Patterson was again personally served with a Rule 81D Summons, and noticed to appear before the Chancery Court of Desoto County on June 30, 2008. CR at 37-38.

On June 24, 2008, Mr. Patterson filed an Answer to the Petition for Contempt. CR at 39-42. In addition, Mr. Patterson filed a "Motion for Continuance and Discovery" and a Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment. CR at 43-82. The Chancery Court granted Mr. Patterson's Motion for Continuance, and the matter was continued until August 18, 2008. CR at 83.

On August 18, 2008, the case was called before the Desoto County Chancery

Court. Mr. Patterson appeared, and the Court heard Mr. Patterson's various motions. See

TR passim. The Court denied Mr. Patterson's Motion for Dismissal and Summary

Judgment and held that the Chancery Court has jurisdiction of this case. TR at 23-26;

CR at.84. The Court granted Mr. Patterson's second motion for a continuance, and ruled that the matter would be heard in its entirety on September 29, 2008. TR at 25-26; CR at

84. The Court further explained to Mr. Patterson that a motion for discovery was unnecessary, and explained the procedure for filing discovery to him. TR at 26-28.

Mr. Patterson filed no discovery requests.

On September 29, 2008, the case was called before the Desoto County Chancery

Court. TR at 29. Mr. Patterson did not appear. TR at 29. The Court proceeded with an

ex parte hearing on the issues presented in the Petition for Contempt. TR at 29. On September 30, 2008, a Final Order on Petition for Contempt was entered by the Court, holding Mr. Patterson in contempt on certain issues and ordering him to pay certain amounts pursuant to the Final Decree of Divorce. CR at 85-86..

Mr. Patterson appeals that Final Order.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Honorable Chancellor, Vickie B. Cobb, in the Chancery Court of Desoto County, Mississippi, was correct in holding that the Chancery Court of Desoto County had both personal jurisdiction and subject matter jurisdiction in this case, and in holding Mr. Patterson in contempt of the parties' divorce decree.

Mr. Patterson argues that the Chancery Court could not modify the divorce decree in this case because the Chancery Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. *See* Brief of Appellant at p. 8. Mr. Patterson does not argue that the Chancery Court lacked personal jurisdiction over the parties. Mr. Patterson appeared personally appeared before the Court, and the Court entertained various motions filed by Mr. Patterson.

The Chancery Court had subject matter jurisdiction over this case by virtue of the Chancery Court's enrollment of the foreign decree of divorce in August 2006. CR at 31-32. Mr. Patterson did not contest the enrollment, although he was personally served with process when the decree was enrolled. CR at 28-30. The Order enrolling the New Hampshire divorce decree in Mississippi specifically states that the decree shall be given full faith and credit by the Mississippi courts. CR at 31-32.

Only after being personally served with a Petition for Contempt almost two years later did Mr. Patterson raise any jurisdictional issue. The Desoto County Chancery Court properly found that the Court had jurisdiction in this matter due to the previous enrollment of the divorce decree in 2006.

Having found that the Chancery Court indeed had jurisdiction in this matter, the

Court properly found that Mr. Patterson was in contempt of the divorce decree due to his failure to pay certain amounts owed to Ms. Patterson under the decree. CR at 85-86.

Nowhere does Mr. Patterson argue that he did in fact make the payments, nor could Mr. Patterson make such an untrue argument. Instead, Mr. Patterson now argues that because he believes Ms. Patterson to have "unclean hands" that the Chancery Court could not hold him in contempt for his wilful failure to pay Ms. Patterson the ordered amounts.

However, Mr. Patterson chose not to appear for the scheduled hearing on the contempt, in spite of the Chancery Court's clear order that the matter would be heard in its entirety on September 29, 2008. CR at 83; TR at 29. After having been personally served with a proper Rule 81D Summons in this contempt action to appear before the Court on June 30, 2008, Mr. Patterson requested and was granted a continuance until August 18, 2008. CR at 81-82; 83. On August 18, 2008, Mr. Patterson appeared before the Chancery Court of Desoto County, argued several motions, and again requested a continuance. See TR passim. Again, his request for a continuance was granted. An Order was entered continuing the hearing until September 29, 2008, some six weeks later. CR at 84.

On September 29, 2008, Mr. Patterson failed to appear before the Chancery Court. TR at 29. A hearing was held ex parte in his absence. TR at 29. The record below reflects no motion for continuance or any effort on Mr. Patterson's part to explain his absence from the hearing. Mr. Patterson cannot now complain that a ruling was entered against him when he failed to appear and defend himself before the Court.

Mr. Patterson's argument that the Court lacked any evidence supporting a finding of contempt must fail since Mr. Patterson failed to put on any evidence to the contrary.

The Chancellor's rulings must be affirmed in all respects.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CHANCELLOR PROPERLY HELD THAT THE CHANCERY COURT HAS JURISDICTION IN THIS CASE

This Court reviews jurisdictional issues de novo. McDaniel v. Ritter, 556 So.2d 303, 308 (Miss. 1989) (quoting MISS CAL 204, Ltd. v. Upchurch, 465 So.2d 326, 330 (Miss. 1985)).

Clearly, the Honorable Chancellor was correct in holding that the Chancery Court of Desoto County, Mississippi, had jurisdiction in this contempt action.

After the parties' divorce in the State of New Hampshire in 2004, Appellee Ms.

Patterson subsequently moved to Desoto County, Mississippi, and remarried. Ms.

Patterson had been awarded primary custody of the parties' one child under the terms of the New Hampshire divorce decree. CR at 11.

On July 11, 2006, Ms. Patterson filed a Petition to Enroll Foreign Decree and for Full Faith and Credit with the Desoto County Chancery Court. CR at 3-37. Appellant Mr. Patterson was personally served with a Rule 81D Summons, and noticed to appear before the Desoto County Chancery Court on August 22, 2006. CR at 28-30. On August 22, 2006, Mr. Patterson did not appear as noticed before the Desoto County Chancery Court. An Order was entered that day enrolling the New Hampshire divorce decree and giving that decree full faith and credit by the Mississippi court. CR at 31-32.

On June 16, 2008, almost two years since the New Hampshire divorce decree was enrolled in Mississippi, Ms. Patterson filed a Petition for Contempt, alleging that Mr.

Patterson had obstinately and wilfully failed to abide by certain terms of the divorce decree. CR at 33-36. Mr. Patterson was again personally served with a Rule 81D Summons, and noticed to appear before the Chancery Court of Desoto County on June 30, 2008. CR at 37-38.

On June 24, 2008, Mr. Patterson filed an Answer to the Petition for Contempt. CR at 39-42. In addition, Mr. Patterson filed a "Motion for Continuance and Discovery" and a Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment. CR at 43-82. The Chancery Court granted Mr. Patterson's Motion for Continuance, and the matter was continued until August 18, 2008. CR at 83.

On August 18, 2008, the case was called before the Desoto County Chancery

Court. Mr. Patterson appeared, and the Court heard Mr. Patterson's various motions. See

TR passim.

Although Mr. Patterson persists, throughout the Brief of Appellant, in calling this short hearing a "trial," a simple reading of the transcript clearly shows that this was a twenty-minute hearing on motions, not a "trial." TR at 15. No witnesses were called, and the Chancellor heard only the arguments of counsel. Ms. Patterson did not testify. Mr. Patterson repeatedly refers to Ms. Maddox's testimony" in his brief. Ms. Maddox is counsel for Ms. Patterson, and of course did not testify to anything.

The Court denied Mr. Patterson's Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment and held that the Chancery Court has jurisdiction of this case. TR. at 23-26; CR at 84.

The Court granted Mr. Patterson's second motion for a continuance, and ruled that the

matter would be heard in its entirety on September 29, 2008. TR at 25-26; CR at 84. The Court further explained to Mr. Patterson that a motion for discovery was unnecessary, and explained the procedure for filing discovery to him. TR at 26-28.

On September 29, 2008, the case was called for hearing as ordered before the Desoto County Chancery Court. TR at 29. Mr. Patterson did not appear. TR at 29. The Court proceeded with an ex parte hearing on the issues presented in the Petition for Contempt. TR at 29. On September 30, 2008, a Final Order on Petition for Contempt was entered by the Court, holding Mr. Patterson in contempt on certain issues and ordering him to pay certain amounts pursuant to the Final Decree of Divorce. CR at 85-86.

There is no question, and indeed Mr. Patterson does not argue, that the New Hampshire divorce decree was not properly enrolled in Mississippi. Pursuant to the United States Constitution, Mississippi must give full faith and credit to all final judgments of other states and federal courts unless the judgment was obtained as a result of some false representation or the rendering court did not have jurisdiction. *Schwartz v. Hynum*, 933 So.2d 1039, 1042 (Miss. 2006). A challenge on either of these grounds must be timely made. *Id*.

Mr. Patterson does not challenge the New Hampshire divorce decree on either of these grounds, nor could be at this juncture. Instead, he argued in the hearing before the Chancery Court that the Desoto County Chancery Court has no subject matter jurisdiction to hear a contempt action because there was an adequate remedy at law, as in a contract

action. TR at 7-8. This argument ignores Mississippi law that contempt actions based on a violation of the terms of a divorce decree are heard by the Chancery Courts.

Miss.R.Civ.P. 81; TR at 23-26. He further argued that New Hampshire was the proper venue for this contempt matter. TR at 14.

Mr. Patterson never argued in 2006 that the New Hampshire divorce decree was improperly enrolled, or should not be enrolled in Mississippi. As in the instant case, he was personally served with the enrollment and aware that the New Hampshire decree was being enrolled in Mississippi. He offered no objection to its enrollment.

For the *first* time in his brief, Mr. Patterson argues that the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act ("UIFSA") precludes jurisdiction of the Chancery Court. *See* Brief of Appellant at 12-16. This issue was never raised in the Chancery Court, and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *Albert v. Allied Glove Corp.*, 944 So.2d 1, 7 (¶ 21) (Miss. 2006) (*citing Purvis v. Barnes*, 791 So 2d 199, 202 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2001)). This issue has no merit and should be discounted by the Court.

Even had the issue of UIFSA been raised, it is of no import in this case. Ms. Patterson did not seek to modify a child support order under UIFSA. (Emphasis added). See Brief of Appellant at 12-13. Ms. Patterson's Petition for Contempt was filed solely because of Mr. Patterson's failure to pay to her certain sums owed under the divorce decree. CR at 33-36. The UIFSA does not apply in this case.

As this Court held in *Nelson v. Halley*, 827 So.2d 42, 48 (¶ 22) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), "once both parents and the child have left the original state, the continuing,

exclusive jurisdiction of that state's tribunal may have terminated, but its order remains in effect and enforceable until it is modified by another tribunal with authority to do so."

McLean v. Kohnle, 940 So.2d 975 (¶ 17) (Miss. 2006). It is uncontradicted that neither of the parties now has any contact with the State of New Hampshire. Ms Patterson and the minor child both live in Desoto County, Mississippi, and Mr. Patterson now lives in California. To insist, as Mr. Patterson does, that New Hampshire retains jurisdiction now is without merit.

The Mississippi Chancery Court had both personal and subject matter jurisdiction over this contempt matter, and the Chancery Court properly held so. To hold otherwise would be to negate the full faith and credit extended to foreign judgments as conferred by the U.S. Constitution.

II. MR. PATTERSON FAILED TO APPEAR AT THE CONTEMPT HEARING; THE CHANCELLOR PROPERLY FOUND THAT MR. PATTERSON IS IN CONTEMPT OF THE DIVORCE DECREE

This Court's standard of review in domestic relations matters is limited. Luse v. Luse, 2007-CA-00171 (¶ 5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). This Court will not disturb a chancellor's ruling unless that ruling is manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard. Id. (citing Jundooshing v. Jundooshing, 826 So. 2d 85, 88 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2002)).

On June 16, 2008, Ms. Patterson filed a Petition for Contempt, alleging that Mr. Patterson had obstinately and wilfully failed to abide by certain terms of the divorce decree. CR at 33-36. Specifically, Ms. Patterson alleged that Mr. Patterson had wilfully

and obstinately failed to pay her a \$1000.00 per month "rent stipend" as ordered in the Final Decree of Divorce, and that Mr. Patterson had wilfully and obstinately failed to provide medical insurance for their minor child, as ordered in the Final Decree of Divorce, and had failed to pay one-half of the minor child's medical bills. CR at 33-36. Mr. Patterson was personally served with a Rule 81D Summons, and noticed to appear before the Chancery Court of Desoto County on June 30, 2008. CR at 37-38.

On June 24, 2008, Mr. Patterson filed an Answer to the Petition for Contempt. CR at 39-42. In addition, Mr. Patterson filed a "Motion for Continuance and Discovery" and a Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment. CR at 43-82. The Chancery Court granted Mr. Patterson's Motion for Continuance, and the matter was continued until August 18, 2008. CR at 83.

On August 18, 2008, the case was called before the Desoto County Chancery Court. Mr. Patterson appeared, and the Court heard Mr. Patterson's various motions. See TR passim. The Court denied Mr. Patterson's Motion for Dismissal and Summary Judgment and held that the Chancery Court has jurisdiction of this case. TR at 23-26; CR at 84. The Court granted Mr. Patterson's second motion for a continuance, and ruled that the matter would be heard in its entirety on September 29, 2008. TR at 25-26; CR at 84.

The Court further explained to Mr. Patterson that a motion for discovery was

It is informative to note that the divorce decree specifically holds that Mr. Patterson is to pay Ms. Patterson the \$1000.00 per month rent stipend for a period of three years because Ms. Patterson received no interest in the proceeds from the sale of the marital homestead, and because Ms. Patterson believed that Mr. Patterson deliberately set fire to the marital residence. Mr. Patterson agreed to this provision. CR at 20.

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